SIT Graduate Institute/SIT Study Abroad SIT Digital Collections

Independent Study Project (ISP) Collection

SIT Study Abroad

Spring 2024

Nutri-Score, Warning Signs, and Facts Up Front – In Theory and In Practice A Comparative Analysis of the Effectiveness of Front-of-Package Labeling Systems

Muskaan Makkar SIT Study Abroad

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcollections.sit.edu/isp_collection

Part of the Dietetics and Clinical Nutrition Commons, Food Studies Commons, Health Policy Commons, International and Community Nutrition Commons, and the International Relations Commons

Recommended Citation

Makkar, Muskaan, "Nutri-Score, Warning Signs, and Facts Up Front – In Theory and In Practice A Comparative Analysis of the Effectiveness of Front-of-Package Labeling Systems" (2024). *Independent Study Project (ISP) Collection*. 3759. https://digitalcollections.sit.edu/isp_collection/3759

This Unpublished Paper is brought to you for free and open access by the SIT Study Abroad at SIT Digital Collections. It has been accepted for inclusion in Independent Study Project (ISP) Collection by an authorized administrator of SIT Digital Collections. For more information, please contact digitalcollections@sit.edu.

Nutri-Score, Warning Signs, and Facts Up Front - In Theory and In Practice

A Comparative Analysis of the Effectiveness of Front-of-Package Labeling Systems

By Muskaan Makkar Spring 2024

SIT Switzerland: Global Health and Developmental Policy Academic Director: Alexandre Lambert

University of South Carolina Public Health (B.A.)

<u>Abstract</u>

Suboptimal diets contribute significantly to poor health and chronic diseases, with excessive sodium intake and low consumption of whole grains, fruits, and vegetables being major risk factors. To address this global nutrition burden, various countries have implemented front-of-package labeling (FOPL) systems such as the Nutri-Score, Warning Signs, and Facts Up Front.

This paper aims to analyze the effectiveness of these systems – which vary in development, design, content, and implementation – in both theory and practice. The methodology involves a comparative analysis of three FOPL systems, assessing their theoretical effectiveness with international guidelines and practical effectiveness through expert interviews and secondary data.

Findings show that while both the Nutri-Score and Warning Signs generally adhere to international guidelines, the Nutri-Score faces more divisive consensus, while the Facts Up Front label lacks in several crucial areas. The three systems have varying degrees of academic, industry, and government support, with the voluntary, non-interpretive Facts Up Front label being most preferred by the industry and less supported by research, whereas the vice versa applies for the government-mandated, interpretive Warning Signs label, and the voluntary, interpretive Nutri-Score garners both support and dissent from all stakeholders.

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deepest appreciation for my academic advisors and instructors of the Switzerland Global Health and Developmental Policy program at the School of International Training. Dr. Lambert and Francoise, you both have been integral to my ISP process in more ways than one. Dr. Golaz and Dr. Meur, your guidance in the planning process was paramount. Thank you for providing me with a space to explore my interest in food policy from a multitude of perspectives.

Additionally, I would like to thank my amazing interviewees:

Dr. Lasserre, your immense preparedness for both of our interviews this semester made for such fruitful conversations. Thank you for patiently answering all of my questions about food labeling during the lecture - I know there were many!

Dr. Kyriakides, your expertise on the Mediterranean diet and passion for promoting the healthfulness of olive oil was invaluable to my paper. Thank you for your flexibility and willingness to help an unknown student — it demonstrated immense kindness, and I greatly appreciated it.

Dr. Julia, your intelligence and passion for improving nutrition standards were evident throughout our conversation, and I learned so much about the Nutri-Score in such a short amount of time — I probably took over 10 pages of notes during our interview! Thank you so much for your dedicated commitment to helping students.

Dr. Thrasher, go Gamecocks! Thank you for an insightful interview. I had never considered the interaction of the U.S. food industry and the tobacco industry on front-of-package labeling. It was also interesting to learn about the spillover effects of Mexico's warning labels on the U.S.

Dr. Schwartz, learning more about the barriers to mandating regulations in the United States was incredibly relevant both to my paper and overall academic interest! Thank you so much for all of the resources you provided me with.

Mr. Gaberell, I love how Public Eye tells stories in such an informative yet digestible way, and our interview mirrored the accessibility of the article. I understood the intricacies of industry and government interactions much more thoroughly. Thank you for a wonderful conversation.

Finally, this project would not have been possible without the support of my mentors at the University of South Carolina. To Dr. Frongillo, Dr. Blake, and Morgan Boncyk — thank you for always being willing to coordinate opportunities for me, even from an ocean away.

Table of Contents

Introduction	5-7
Methods	7-9
Literature Review	9-13
A. Nutri-Score	9-11
B. Warning Signs	11-12
C. Facts Up Front	12-13
Analysis	13-34
A. International Guidelines and Policy Frameworks	13-15
B. Principles of Development	15-19
1. Nutri-Score Development	15-16
2. Warning Signs Development	16-18
3. Facts Up Front Development	18-19
C. Principles of Design	19-24
1. Nutri-Score Design	19-21
2. Warning Signs Design	21-22
3. Facts Up Front Design	22-24
D. Principles of Content	24-29
1. Nutri-Score Content	24-26
2. Warning Signs Content	27-28
3. Facts Up Front Content	28-29
E. Principles of Implementation	29-34
1. Nutri-Score Implementation	30-31
2. Warning Signs Implementation	31-32
3. Facts Up Front Implementation	33-34
Conclusion	34-35
Bibliography	36-43
Appendix: Abbreviation List	44-45
	Methods Literature Review A. Nutri-Score B. Warning Signs C. Facts Up Front Analysis A. International Guidelines and Policy Frameworks B. Principles of Development 1. Nutri-Score Development 2. Warning Signs Development 3. Facts Up Front Development 3. Facts Up Front Development C. Principles of Design 1. Nutri-Score Design 2. Warning Signs Design 3. Facts Up Front Design 3. Facts Up Front Design 1. Nutri-Score Content 2. Warning Signs Content 3. Facts Up Front Content 3. Facts Up Front Content 2. Warning Signs Content 3. Facts Up Front Content 2. Warning Signs Content 3. Facts Up Front Content 2. Warning Signs Content 3. Facts Up Front Content 2. Warning Signs Implementation 3. Facts Up Front Implementation

Introduction

A suboptimal diet, consisting of both excesses of unhealthful foods and deficits of healthful foods, is a principal exacerbator of poor health and chronic disease.^{1,2} The Global Burden of Disease study has consistently shown over the years that a high intake of sodium, and a low intake of whole grains, fruits, and vegetables were the leading dietary risk factors for deaths and disability-adjusted life years. ^{3–5} The current food retail environments worldwide offer a plethora of ultra-processed foods that contribute to suboptimal diets.⁶ Effective public and private policies that enable consumers to make healthier dietary decisions are paramount to mitigating the global nutrition burden.

General food labeling is an age-old policy in public health, with nutrient declarations, usually in the form of back-of-package labels (BOPLs), displaying information on the foods' macronutrient and micronutrient composition and ingredients.⁷ While nutrition policies vary based on country context, most nations abide by the labeling provisions of the Codex Alimentarius Commission (CAC), an international authority for food standard setting established by the World Health Organization (WHO) and Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).⁸ From a consumer standpoint, however, BOPLs can be numerically dense, raising accessibility concerns for populations with lower education levels.⁹ These labels can also be underutilized, resulting in unaffected consumer choice.¹⁰ Intended to increase the consumer's understanding of the food product's nutritional content, the Codex also outlines guidelines for supplementary nutrition information in a 2021 annex on front-of-package nutrition labels (FOPLs).¹¹

As of May 2022, forty-four countries have introduced FOPL in some capacity.⁶ FOPL systems use aids like symbols, colors, numbers, or letter grades to equip customers with

supplementary nutritional knowledge to make informed choices. ^{9,12} Labeling schemes can vary in design. Interpretive FOPL systems provide an at-a-glance display of the relative healthfulness or unhealthfulness of a product, whereas non-interpretive systems provide numerical nutrient composition information with no advice on the overall nutritional value of food. Some countries mandate FOP labels, whereas other countries only have a voluntary system. ⁶

The Nutri-Score, created by France, and adopted by seven other European countries, is a voluntary system that provides a summary indicator of the healthfulness of the food product. Variations of the Warning Signs label are adopted by Chile, Mexico, Brazil, and Canada, which is a mandatory system that provides indicators of high levels of nutrients that can increase the risk of diet-related NCDs. ^{6,13} Other countries do not have an interpretive system in place. The United States falls into this category, with the U.S. food industry proposing the implementation of Facts Up Front as a voluntary labeling system that displays information on calories, macronutrients, and some micronutrients. This information is a "fast facts" version of the mandatory back-of-package label ^{14,15} (Figure 1).

Fig. 1: General Formats of the Nutri-Score, Warning Signs, and Facts Up Front Labels





Nutri-Score¹⁶ (left); Warning Signs¹⁷ (top right); Facts Up Front ¹⁸ (bottom right)

A vast body of research suggests that FOPLs have merit and can encourage consumers to make healthier choices; however, there is still not a unanimous consensus on which systems are most effective in improving the nutritional quality of a population. There is also less literature on what factors and stakeholders affect the implementation of specific FOPL systems in varying regions and countries. This paper will analyze the theoretical and practical effectiveness of three FOPL systems: the Nutri-Score in select European countries, the Warning Signs system in select Latin American countries and Canada, and the Facts Up Front system in the United States. Each system will be measured according to the WHO and CAC international guidelines on FOPL labels. Additionally, the perspectives of relevant stakeholders will be analyzed to understand how each system works in practice.

<u>RQ</u>: How do three FOPL systems, the Nutri-Score, Warning Signs, and Facts Up Front, differ in theoretical and practical effectiveness?

Methodology

The research method is a comparative analysis of the effectiveness of three FOPL systems. Theoretical effectiveness is defined by the system's alignment with established international guidelines. Practical effectiveness is more subjective; it is measured by the viewpoints of various stakeholders, including governments, food manufacturers, and academic researchers. It is important to note that no consumers were directly interviewed or studied in this paper; rather, all consumer data is derived from secondary literature.

The methodological design is composed of primary and secondary data. Primary data consists of interviews with experts from France, Switzerland, and the United States. Interviewee selection criteria included any individuals or organizations with professional experience in (1) one or multiple front-of-package nutrition labeling systems (2) consumer choice or (3) food

systems. This criterion was constructed to include expert opinions for each of the FOPL systems, understand drivers of consumer choice, build general knowledge of FOPL systems, and involve a broader lens of food systems to offer insightful, innovative policy recommendations to improve nutrition indicators in the population. As the paper is a global comparative analysis, there were no geographical boundaries when seeking interviews. Any interviewees who resided outside of Switzerland were offered a virtual option. If interviewees lived in Switzerland, there was a preference for in-person interviews; however, due to schedule conflicts, all interviews conducted were virtual.

In total, this paper included six interviews with professors, a dietician, and a journalist (1) Dr. Chantal Julia, a professor at Sorbonne Paris Nord University and one of the developers of the Nutri-Score labeling system; (2) Dr. Tassos Kyriakides, professor at Yale University, (3) Dr. Marlene Schwartz, professor at University of Connecticut; (4) Dr. Jim Thrasher, professor at the University of South Carolina; (5) Dr. Sandrine Lasserre, Geneva-based dietician; (6) Laurent Gaberell, agriculture and food journalist at Public Eye CH.

Secondary data included peer-reviewed academic literature and books with policy briefs, and research reports, found using the research databases Google Scholar, JSTOR, and the Lancet. Other gray literature, including publications from international and governmental organizations such as the WHO, FAO, OECD, PAHO, and USDA, legislative texts, and relevant news articles. Search criteria were based on several topics: (1) General Front-of-Package Nutrition Labels and Policy (2) Drivers of Consumer Food Choice (2) Mandatory FOPL (3) Voluntary FOPL (4) Nutri-Score FOPL (5) Warning Signs FOPL (6) Facts Up Front FOPL. The final set of literature was only included in the literature review and analysis if it offered relevant information to this search criteria.

In terms of ethical considerations, all interviewees provided informed consent after being given the aim of the study and the nature of their participation. All interviewees consented to be recorded for transcription purposes. No interviewees asked to remain anonymous. Limitations of this methodology could include potential sampling bias, as interviewees were located through a review of peer-reviewed and gray literature on current FOPL and food systems, along with connections via academic advisors from the School of International Training and the University of South Carolina. Furthermore, due to time and budget constraints, this paper relied on interviews with experts and secondary data to acquire information on drivers of consumer food choices within each FOPL system. This may have limited the scope and depth of the study, as no consumers were interviewed directly.

Literature Review

This section is a review of the current literature to understand the history, key components, praises, and criticisms of each FOPL system.

Nutri-Score

The Nutri-Score is a five-color, five-class front-of-package label that displays foods as healthy or unhealthy over a gradient. ^{19,20} The nutritional quality of products is ranked A to E, green to red, both across and within food groups.²⁰ The national public agency, Santé publique France, created the label based on the work of Dr. Serge Hercberg and his research team, the Nutritional Epidemiology Research Team (EREN).¹⁶ The general algorithm places guideline- recommended foods, like fruits, vegetables, unsalted nuts, and whole grain products into healthier, A/B categories, and places non-recommended foods, such as processed meats and high-sugar or high-salt snacks into the D/E categories.¹⁹

The system was first implemented in France in 2017; Belgium and Spain followed suit in 2018, Switzerland and Germany in 2019, Luxembourg in 2020, and the Netherlands and Portugal in 2024.^{21–24} In line with European Union (EU) regulations, front-of-package labeling as a practice is voluntary, including the Nutri-Score. However, if manufacturers do display the Nutri-Score, they must label it for all foods under their brand.

The initial Nutri-Score algorithm was derived from the United Kingdom Food Standards Agency nutrient profiling (NP) system, known as the FSA score. In general, guidelinerecommended foods, like fruits, vegetables, unsalted nuts, and whole grain products, will end up in healthier, A/B categories, and non-recommended foods, such as processed meats and highsugar or high-salt snacks will be in the D/E categories.¹⁹

There are several articles supporting the use of the Nutri-Score, many of which have members of EREN as contributors. A synthesis paper published in the Central European Journal of Public Health outlined primary results and conclusions from several different studies on the effectiveness of the Nutri-Score.²⁵ The paper overviews several studies that support that the Nutri-Score can positively influence consumer purchasing habits of healthy foods.^{26–28} Another paper found that the Nutri-Score most improved consumers' abilities to determine the relative nutritional quality of products, compared to other FOPL systems.²⁹

A critique of the system is that the Nutri-Score can mislead consumers about the nutritional value of foods. Examples of this critique are olive oil and soda. Initially, olive oil was labeled a C; the algorithm has gone through developments, now rating olive oil as a B.¹⁹ Dr. Hercberg of EREN states that olive oil can never earn a green A on the algorithm because it is fat. Countering, Dr. Tasso Kyriakides and Dr. Vasilis Vasilliou from the Yale Olive Sciences and Health Institute argue that the Nutri-Score discredits the well-documented health benefits of

olive oil.³⁰ Dr. Kyriakides states, "If consumers who do not know about olive oil are exposed to the Nutri-Score labels, they can think that a soda drink would be healthier than olive oils." Other entities, including the Swiss Commission for Science, Education, and Culture, Swiss and Italian farmers, and the Italian government further comment on the system's inability to consider additives, country of origin, and sustainability.^{31,32}

Warning Sign Labels

Warning Sign labels are present if a food is high in sugars, sodium, saturated fats, transfats, and/or calories. The label is demonstrated by black octagons with white-lettered messages. It was one of the four mandates implemented in Chile through the Food Labelling and Marketing Law in 2016, along with age restrictions on unhealthy product advertising, prohibitions on products sold in school, and requirements for nutritional education in schools.³³

Numerous other Latin American countries and Canada have followed in Chile's footsteps.^{34,35} Mexico was one country that changed a previously implemented FOPL to this system. In 2011, the Mexican Council of Consumer Industry, an organization consisting of the main manufacturers of ultra-processed foods in the nation, introduced the GDA system which the Mexican government mandated despite the dissent of public health leaders; Mexico replaced the system with the interpretive Warning Signs FOPL in 2020. Research supports that Warning Sign labels have high levels of consumer awareness, use, and understanding relative to other systems, even among low- and middle-income populations.^{34–37}An important facet of the warning label system is that it is government-mandated to be displayed on all packaged products. Voluntary FOPL policies give companies the choice of affixing the label to their product, even if the system is government-endorsed. The Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) asserts that voluntary labels allow companies to selectively avoid labeling unhealthy products, or avoid the system

completely.³⁸ Variance in consumer understanding of Warning Signs compared to the U.K. Multiple Traffic Lights Label (MTL) or the Australian Health Star Ratings (HSR) FOPL could derive from differences in mandated versus voluntary policies.³⁹ A report shows that Australian manufacturers displayed the FOPL on less than 50% of pre-packaged foods. Overall, the labels were also on fewer products with lower nutritional quality.⁴⁰

The industry has notoriously opposed the spread of the warning labels system. The 10 largest global food and drink manufacturers all operate in Mexico, and their total combined revenue was over 1 billion USD per day in 2012.³⁴ Food manufacturers like Nestle lobbied against mandatory systems because it would cost them billions in profit. ⁴¹

Facts Up Front

In 2010, the Food and Drug Administration started a front-of-package labeling initiative. As a part of this, the Institute of Medicine (IOM) published two reports on the topic. The first report recommended that FOP labeling should provide information on critical nutrients that are related to diet-related health conditions; the second report focused on consumer understanding and behavior related to the development of a standardized FOPL. The second report concluded that the U.S. should move towards a labeling system that "encourages healthier choices through simplicity, visual clarity, and the ability to convey meaning without written information." However, before the release of the second report, U.S. food manufacturers put forth the noninterpretive labeling scheme called Facts Up Front.^{15,42,43} Facts Up Front labels display numerical information about calories, saturated fats, sodium, and two (out of eight possible) nutrients to encourage that are in the product.^{15,44} Facts Up Front is comparable to the old U.K. Guideline Daily Amounts (GDA) system, which also displays basic icons containing nutritional information with percentage calculation of one's recommended dietary intake.⁴⁵

The industry is in support of the label, claiming that there is research in support of Facts Up Front's impact on consumer awareness. ⁴⁶ However, Christina Roberto, a food policy expert at the University of Pennsylvania, believes that the food industry is standing in the way of more sensible, science-based labels that the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) should pursue. She asserts that for more than 10 years, Facts Up Front was a mechanism that helped the industry delay stricter regulation on the highly processed, nutrient-poor foods that the industry profits massively from ⁴⁷ The Center for Science in the Public Interest (CSPI) claims that Facts Up Front-style labels do not affect consumer behavior, contrary to the industry's findings, and cited studies in favor of interpretive, mandatory, and nutrient-specific FOPL systems. ^{12,48,49}

<u>Analysis</u>

This section aims to thoroughly understand the factors that determine the effectiveness of food labeling systems in encouraging the consumption of healthy foods. First, it will overview which elements of front-of-package systems are recommended by international and national policy frameworks and guidelines. Then, these guidelines will be used to compare the effectiveness of the Nutri-Score, Warning Signs, and Facts Up Front labels, drawing from existing literature on stakeholder perspectives and primary interviews with experts.

International Guidelines and Policy Frameworks

The Codex Alimentarius Commission was established by the FAO and WHO in 1963 as the developmental entity for international food standards, guidelines, and codes of practices to protect consumer health and ensure fair practices in food trade. The CAC has provided guidelines on front-of-package labeling, intended to aid countries in developing FOPL that aligns with their national dietary guidance or nutrition policy. Codex guidelines mesh with the WHO Guiding Principles and Framework Manual for FOPL, which outlines procedures for developing, implementing, monitoring, and evaluating labels. The manual contains principles for the content and format of the label. The 2019 WHO manual and 2021 Codex Annex provide overarching principles for label development, including that it is unified, well-monitored, transparent, accessible, and in line with national policy. The system should be government-led but in consultation with the private sector, consumers, academia, public health associations, and other stakeholders. Furthermore, the guidelines offer principles for FOPL system design, content, and implementation (Table 1). ^{6,11,50}

Table 1: Principles of Development, Design, Content, & Implementation for FOPL 6,11,50

Development and Design

Content

Implementation

Developed by the government, but in consultation with the private sector, consumers, academia, public health associations, and other stakeholders Interpretive, based on symbols, colors, words, and/or quantifiable elements Supported by consumer testing, evidence of system performance, and stakeholder engagement Understandable to all population subgroups

Encompass nutritional criteria that aim to inform choice and promote healthy diets

Enable appropriate comparisons between food categories, within a food category, and between foods within a specific food type Use regulatory or voluntary approaches to encourage uptake of the system

Engage with industry groups early, and develop guidance documents (i.e., style guide)

Engage with key opinion leaders (including food and nutrition experts and the media) and consumers

Resource public education campaigns with a focus on at-risk groups

Collect baseline data to evaluate the impact of labels on consumers and the reformulation of food products These principles were developed to support countries in the development, implementation, monitoring, and evaluation of a contextually appropriate FOPL system to bolster healthy food systems; thereby, they offer standards of effectiveness to compare existing FOPL systems against.

Principles of Development

 "The FOPL system should be government-led but developed in consultation with all interested parties including the private sector, consumers, academia, public health associations among others" ¹¹

Nutri-Score Development

The Nutri-Score was a government-led, academia-supported initiative at the time of its development in France. Aforementioned, the Nutri-Score was introduced as a voluntary regulatory measure by the national public health agency, Santé publique France, and the French Ministry of Health (MoH).¹⁶ The MoH tasked Dr. Serge Hercberg, professor and the head of the National Nutrition Health Program in France at the time, with a report on the various areas that public policy and nutrition that could be improved. The report was created in consultation with various experts in the field and proposed several measures, including the use of a Nutrient Profiling (NP) model for three purposes: front-of-pack labeling, taxation, and regulation of advertising. Research on the validation of the NP model and necessary modifications was developed by the academic work of Dr. Serge Hercberg and his research team, EREN. ⁵¹ The French High Council for Public Health was also involved in the development of the label and was tasked with determining final algorithmic modifications of the NP model and the Nutri- Score. As various countries adopted the system, the system further developed with the creation of the International Scientific Committee of the

Nutri-Score in 2021, which includes relevant authorities from France, Belgium, Spain, Switzerland, Germany, Luxembourg, and the Netherlands to assess possible evolutions of the system for better consumer health.¹⁶

Key food manufacturers, Coca-Cola, Mars, Mondelez, Nestle, PepsiCo, and Unilever, opposed the Nutri-Score and other labeling systems and proposed an alternative label called the "Evolved Nutrition Label," or ENL, a modification of the MTL label. ⁵² Whereas the nutritional composition calculations for the Nutri-Score and Traffic Lights system are based on the nutritional composition of 100g of product, the ENL was based on "small" portion sizes, or less than 60g. The portion change of the ENL could be misleading to consumers, as food products would be scaled up a grade on the ENL instead of appearing as an "E" or red like on the other two FOPLs. ⁵³ However, the manufacturers suspended the ENL about a year later, in late 2018, after receiving public criticism. ⁵⁴ And, in 2020, Nestle – as a member of a coalition of consumer organizations, academics, European parliamentarians, and other companies in the food industry – released a statement regarding the company's support for the Nutri-Score to become the mandatory FOPL system of the EU. ⁵⁵

Warning Signs Development

In 2014, member states of the Directing Council of PAHO mandated PAHO to develop a Nutrient Profile (NP) model because the Americas had the highest obesity epidemic in the world. PAHO created an expert consultation group, consisting of nutrition authorities from academia, government, and health organizations to create the NP model. The model develops regional criteria for acceptable amounts of critical nutrients (salt, sugar, saturated fats, and trans fats) in order to implement public nutrition policies – such as a Warning Sign FOPL – that prevent the consumption of unhealthy foods. The Chilean government, which

had already initiated a Warning Sign FOPL in 2012, agreed to use the NP model to guide implementation efforts. Other countries in the region agreed to the same and mandated the label for food manufacturers. ⁵⁶

Transnational food manufacturers and even some foreign governmental agencies were not in support of the label's development. ^{37,41} In a Public Eye article co-written by food journalist, Laurent Gaberell, the responses of multinational companies like Nestle when Latin American governments implemented the warning labeling system are outlined. Nestle, headquartered in Switzerland, sought the support of the Swiss State Secretariat for Economic Affairs (SECO) to prevent the mandate. SECO and Nestle expressed concerns about the system to the Mexican government and instead recommended the use of the voluntary Nutri-Score. Furthermore, Switzerland, the EU, the U.S., Costa Rica, and other countries submitted a "Specific Trade Concern" regarding the mandatory labels to the Technical Barriers to Trade (TBT) Committee of the World Trade Organization (WTO). The countries voiced concerns about Codex regulations and food supply issues due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and requested amendments and postponements; however, the Mexican mandatory FOPL still went into effect later that year. ^{41,57}

Prior to intervening in Mexico, Nestle and SECO attempted to stop the Chilean government from mandating warning labels on Nestle's products in 2013 and raised concerns about Peru and Ecuador's potential implementation of similar FOPL systems. SECO questioned whether labels that sent negative messages and set nutrient thresholds were aligned with the Codex. At the time, the Codex did not contain the guidelines on FOPL systems that exist in present-day Annex 2. PAHO affirmed that the Codex did not prevent countries from creating their own labeling schemes and that countries could go beyond

Codex guidance. ³⁸ In an interview with Laurent Gaberell, he furthered, "Codex is the minimum common denominator, but it is being used as a maximum for what countries are allowed to do." Gaberell summarizes his work by pointing out that Mexico has one of the highest rates of obesity in the world and the government finally took action, yet the food industry and trade organizations will always be against stricter labeling due to profit losses. ⁵⁸

Facts Up Front Development

In an open letter, then commissioner of the FDA, Dr. Margaret Hamburg expressed the importance of nutrition labeling to the food industry. ^{44,59} This letter, paired with an IOM report emphasizing the importance of an effective FOPL system, led to the development of Facts Up Front.^{15,42} Facts Up Front is an industry initiative, and it did not concur with final recommendations from the IOM regarding the development of an interpretive system instead of one that relied on the conveyance of numerical information. ^{15,42,43} Furthermore, when the FDA was asked if they would propose an alternative uniform scheme or if they would just monitor the voluntary approaches of the industry, a spokesperson affirmed the latter. ⁶⁰

Grocery Manufacturers Association (GMA) and Food Marketing Association (FMI), national trade associations for the U.S. food industry, asserted that the FOPL system was advised by a panel of third-party experts with varying health, nutrition, and medical backgrounds, but there was also dissent from experts. In 2014, Dr. Marion Nestle, professor of nutrition, food studies, and public health at New York University, wrote, "The IOM recommended that front-of-package labels be: Simple: easy to understand; Interpretive: putting judgments in context; Scaled: indicating good, better, and best. Facts Up Front does none of the above. Facts Up Front is a tool for selling, not buying." ⁶¹ CSPI Executive Director, Michael Jacobson, stated, "CSPI petitioned the FDA to design and implement a front-of-package labeling system back in 2006." He furthers that Facts Up Front was an industry mechanism to preempt an FDA-designed system that is science-based, easily understood by all, and mandatory. ²⁹

Principles of Design

- "The FOPL system should be interpretive, based on symbols, colours, words and/or quantifiable elements." ⁵⁰
- 2. "The format of the FOPL system should be supported by scientifically valid consumer research." ¹¹
- 3. "The design of FOPL systems should be understandable to all population subgroups." ⁵⁰

Nutri-Score Design

The Nutri-Score relies on colors and a grading scale to convey nutritional information, making it interpretive. According to Dr. Chantal Julia, one of the researchers on EREN attributable for the development of the Nutri-Score, the design of the label allows for a "comprehensive translation of the actual composition of the back-of-the-pack label for consumers," as the algorithm of the Nutri-Score is calculated only through the summation of nutritional content available on the BOPL. ⁵¹

Dr. Tassos Kyriakides, a strong proponent of the Mediterranean diet, argues that the label could be deceptive to consumers by not accounting for the synergistic effects of foods and their downstream impact on health. He uses olive oil's 'B,' formerly 'C,' rating as an example: "Any FOPL has to incorporate the synergistic effects of foods and their downstream impact on health. Olive oil, for example, I am not going to consume it by itself usually. There is a lot of evidence that shows if you cook your vegetables in olive oil, it allows for the absorption of the phytonutrients in the vegetables much better. ^{30,62}

However, there is a – negative – instance of the industry accounting for food synergy in their product's Nutri-Score. When comparing Nestle's support for the Nutri-Score versus the Warning Signs label, Laurent Gaberell studied the product, Nesquik. The Nesquik ingredient list contains 75% sugar, 23% cocoa powder, and small amounts of salt, soy lecithin, vitamins, flavoring, and cinnamon. However, the powder receives a light green "B" on the Nutri-Score because the rating is based on a recipe defined by Nestle that accounts for the preparation of Nesquik milk (powder + milk). The BOPL provides information per serving of 1 scoop of Nesquik with 200 mL of the nutritionally favorable semi-skimmed milk (Figure 2).^{41,58} Thereby, the fact that the milk and powder are rated in tandem results in a higher rating, per the format of the Nutri-Score. Fortunately, this loophole was closed by the modified Nutri-Score algorithm, which now primarily classifies sweetened milk beverages, like Nesquik and milk, as a D or an E.⁶³



Figure 2: Nesquik: Nutri-Score and Warning Signs Rating ⁴¹

The Nutri-Score is generally supported by scientifically valid consumer research. The French Fund for Food and Health (FFAS) conducted a study on the impact of FOPLs on actual buying conditions. The FFAS tested 4 systems over 10 weeks of study under actual conditions in 60 shops in France, with 50% of shops situated in areas with high populations of

low-income individuals. The study found that the Nutri-Score and two other European FOPLs had an unambiguous positive ability to bring modifications in consumers' buying habits, with a fairly clear superiority for the Nutri-Score.²⁸ Additionally, in a laboratory-framed field experiment with real purchases, the impact of five FOPL systems on the nutritional quality and cost of a daily consumption basket was studied. All labels except for Reference Intake (RI) improved nutritional quality, but the Nutri-Score was significantly more effective. Furthermore, an international experimental study asked 12,000 consumers from 12 different countries to compare foods within a specific food category (i.e., pizza), labeled with one of five different FOPL systems, including Warning Signs. It found that all FOPL systems improved participants' abilities to sort products according to relative nutritional quality correctly, and the Nutri-Score performed the best across the board. ²⁹

Warning Signs Design

The Warning Signs label relies on color, symbols, and quantifiable elements to convey critical nutrients to avoid, making it interpretive. The amount of black warning signs on each product can be counted to determine how many critical nutrients the product is high in. Dr. Thrasher, a professor at the University of South Carolina with expertise in tobacco- and nutrition-related policies and behaviors, asserts that Warning Sign labels are a simplified system, especially because consumers can just count the number of stop signs on the front of the package to determine how many critical nutrients are in the food. ⁶⁴ Involved in numerous FOPL studies, Dr. Thrasher discussed a paper that he contributed to, which sourced data from the 2017 International Food Policy Study. This study found that participants had a greater understanding of the Warning Sign label than other FOPL systems, consistent across ethnic subgroups. Furthermore, participants used the GDA FOPL less often than BOPLs. ^{64,65}

A comparative study of HSR, MTL, GDA, and Warning Signs FOPL systems and the nutrition facts BOPL further supports that the design of Warning Signs is understandable. The paper used data from the 2018-2020 International Food Policy Study and found that in 2020, awareness, use, and self-reported understanding of the Warning Signs was the highest among all countries with a FOPL. At the time of the study, the Warning Signs FOPL had been implemented in Mexico for less than a year; for six years prior, the GDA FOPL was mandated. Yet, 79% of participants understood the warning system, compared to only 52% of participants understanding the GDA system, even though the latter had relatively high investments for promotion. ⁶⁶ Another study, with low- and middle-socioeconomic status adolescents, young adults, mothers, fathers, and older adults who resided in Mexico City, also supported the conclusion that Warning Signs were more effective than the GDA system; it also found that red warning labels had a better subjective understanding than black ones. ³⁷

An unexpected effect of the Warning Signs implementation in Mexico was the spillover effect into the United States. In his interview, Dr. Thrasher referenced his research on the topic. The 2021 International Food Policy Study surveyed Mexican Americans in the U.S. on their purchasing habits at Mexican-oriented grocery stores. The study found that of the 88% of participants who purchased foods in Mexican stores, 64.1% noticed the Warning Signs FOPL. 32% and 44% of these participants also reported that the FOPL influenced them to buy fewer chips and colas, respectively. Interventions that target lower groups with lower socioeconomic status and health literacy should consider this positive spillover effect. ^{64,67}

Facts Up Front Design

The Facts Up Front label is non-interpretive; it does not utilize a range of colors, symbols, or scales to convey nutritional information. Though the label is inherently numerical, and thus

"quantifiable," there is no specific advice or judgment passed on the healthfulness of a product, which is a key element of an interpretive label. ⁶

The industry provides consumer research to support its design. GMA stated that according to an online survey by Harris Poll on behalf of GMA, 93% of consumers agreed that Facts Up Front makes nutrition information easy to find and use. FMI President and CEO at the time, Leslie G. Sarasin furthered: "Our research tells us that more than two-thirds of shoppers read food labels, looking for information related to sodium content, sugar, fat and calories." ⁴⁶ However, much research and consensus is in opposition to the FOPL. Released right after the development of Facts Up Front, the second IOM report concluded that the most successful FOPLs are (1) simple and do not require specific nutritional knowledge (2) interpretive with the provision of guidance, rather than specific facts; (4) ordinal, with guidance offered as a scaled or ranked approach; (4) supported by easily remembered names or identifiable symbols. ⁴³ Though it can be argued that Facts Up Front is an easily remembered name, other attributes are lacking.

Dr. Marlene Schwartz, Director of the Rudd Center for Food Policy & Obesity at the University of Connecticut, believes that the United States should adopt a more interpretive label, one that plainly shows the healthfulness of a product. "I don't think it's particularly helpful to have [the label] be just information that's on the back, but instead on the front," she states, "The idea that people can use percentages in a meaningful way is just asking for a lot." ⁶⁸ Dr. Thrasher concurs, "Nutrition facts labels on the back or the side of food packaging, are incredibly complicated for people to understand, especially for. people ... [who] have lower levels of education and lower levels of health literacy." ⁶⁴

Supporting the effectiveness of the FOPL, one study focuses exclusively on the impact of Facts Up Front within different racial groups in the United States rather than a comparative analysis of multiple FOPLs and found that mothers who are primary household shoppers engage with and understand Facts Up Front; particularly, African American and Hispanic mothers, who are disproportionately affected by diet-related diseases in the U.S., are more engaged. ⁶⁹ However, this study was not comparative of other FOPL systems, and research supports the fact that the presence of any label can be better than no label at all. ^{12,15} Additionally, though not directly studying Facts Up Front, there is vast literature on the ineffectiveness of the similar GDA system in comparison to other FOPL labels such as the Warning Signs, aforementioned in the previous section.

Principles of Content

- 1. "Content should encompass nutritional criteria... that aim to inform choice and enable interpretation of food products [that support] against risks for diet-related noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) and ... [promote] healthy diets." ⁵⁰
- "The FOPL system should enable appropriate comparisons between food categories, within a food category, and between foods within a specific food type." ⁵⁰

Nutri-Score Content

Though the label does not explicitly state positive nutrients to include in one's diet, or negative nutrients to avoid, Dr. Julia affirms that on average, the Nutri-Score maintains the global hierarchy among foods because the algorithm was developed by the International Scientific Committee of the Nutri-Score according to food-based dietary guidelines. The system assigns positive points for "unfavorable" nutritional content (+10 per category): calories, total sugar,

saturated fatty acids, and sodium. Negative points are assigned for "favorable" content (-5 per category): proteins, fruits, vegetables, nuts, and certain oils. Both totals are summated, yielding a global score of -15 for the most healthy foods, and +40 for the least healthy foods. Thus, each food is classified as a grade/color on the label depending on its score range. ¹⁹ The label also allows for comparisons within food categories; Dr. Julia provides the example of breakfast cereals, in which the complete A-E rating scale is represented because the amount of sugar, whole grains, and saturated fats varies drastically. ⁵¹

The algorithm has gone through one revision in 2022-2023. This revision gives more weight to artificial sweeteners in beverages, corresponding to a shift to one unhealthier category, and it penalizes high-salt and high-sugar products more greatly. It also attributes less weight to oils with lower saturated fats, shifting some oils to a healthier rating. ^{16,51}

Critiques of the system include that the algorithm does not adequately promote healthy diets, despite revisions. Dr. Kyriakides presents the example of Coke Zero, which does not have sugar, saturated fatty acids, or sodium, so it scores well compared to olive oil and honey, which are both high in calories. In a position paper, he writes, "No matter how one tries to explain and justify the categorization of Coke Zero with [the same]... Nutri-Score ... [as] extra virgin olive oil ... it is in clear contradiction to the accumulated science supporting and proving the health benefits of the natural juice from olives." ³⁰ Dr. Lasserre, a Swiss dietician, further adds that the Nutri-Score could benefit from the inclusion of vitamins and minerals, natural versus added sugars, amount of processing, and quality and sustainability of production.⁷⁰ And, in 2023, the Swiss Council of States approved a motion of the Commission for Science, Education, and Culture to consider potential flaws of the already-adopted Nutri-Score, including that it does not discriminate between processed and ultra-processed foods. ³¹

Dr. Julia asserts that the Nutri-Score cannot account for processing due to regulatory and scientific reasons. Firstly, though there is research on how processing negatively affects health independently of nutritional composition, there is not enough scientific knowledge on the weight of processing compared to the weight of the composition. Secondly, there is no regulatory document from the European Commission that determines which elements would classify a product as processed or ultra-processed (like the Nova classification).^{51,71} For the same reason, Nutri-Score also cannot account for added sugars. Dr. Julia agrees that factoring in added sugars versus natural sugars would improve the accuracy of the label. However, EU regulations do not allow a FOPL to include any nutritional elements not present on the BOPL, and manufacturers are not required to distinguish between added versus natural sugars. ⁵¹

Some national governments, like Italy, the Czech Republic, Greece, criticize how certain national food products, like cheese and olive oil, are rated harshly on the Nutri-Score. ⁷² In line with the opinions of Italian farming associations and food producers, the Italian Ministry of Agricultural, Food, and Forestry Policies argued that the Nutri-Score would penalize products from the Mediterranean diet and traditional Italian products. Italy has since proposed its own FOPL, the NutriInform Battery, and prohibited the use of the Nutri-Score on products that have a Protected Designation of Origin (PDO) or Protected Geographical Indication (PGI) certification from the European Union. ^{73,74}

The European Dairy Association also claims that the Nutri-Score negatively impacts consumer perception of the healthfulness of dairy products and does not account for the inability to reformulate products. ⁷⁵ "Just because you can't reformulate doesn't mean you should deny consumers the reality of the product's composition," asserts Dr. Julia, arguing that exempting PDO and PGI products from Nutri-Score ratings is scientifically unsound.

Warning Signs Content

The PAHO NP Model provides classification criteria for food and drink products containing an excessive amount of sodium, free sugars, sweeteners, total fats, saturated fats, and trans fats (Table 2). These criteria are illustrated by the Warning Signs FOPL. The NP Model does not need to be applied to unprocessed/minimally processed foods, such as fruits and vegetables, meat, fish, milk, and eggs.

The PAHO Expert Consultation Group asserts that most, if not all, national FBDGs recommend regular consumption of these foods. Furthermore, the NP model was not developed for the classification of culinary ingredients, such as "salt, plant oils, butter, lard, sugar, honey, and other single substances directly extracted from foods or nature." The NP Model does not deem it appropriate to assess these ingredients' individual nutrient profiles because they are usually used "to season and cook unprocessed or minimally processed foods." The PAHO NP Model's exceptions of certain products is an important consideration, given that a qualm of the Nutri-Score was the potential mislabeling of products like olive oil and cheeses. However, this consideration should also encompass the lack of differentiation between the health benefits of certain cooking ingredients over others, although PAHO does state that countries concerned about high intakes of minimally processed foods and culinary ingredients could address this in their national FBDGs. ⁵⁶

 Table 2: PAHO NP Model Criteria for Identifying Processed/Ultra-Processed Products

 Excessive in Critical Nutrients

Sodium	Free sugars	Other sweeteners	Total Fat	Saturated Fat	Trans Fat
≥ 1 mg of	\geq 10% of total	Any amount of other sweeteners	\geq 30% of	\geq 10% of	\geq 1% of total
sodium per 1	energy from		total energy	total energy	energy from
kcal	free sugars		from total fat	from sat. fat	trans fat

Multinational companies like Nestle are aforementioned critics of the label's nutrient profiling. In a summary statement, Nestle informed PublicEye that they are "committed to supporting people in achieving a balanced diet." but the Warning Signs FOPL "does not help to choose healthier options in a particular product category." ⁴¹ However, PAHO also stands firm in the belief that the FOPL system has a clear focus to help consumers identify the food products that contain an excessive amount of one or more critical nutrients: "merging or adding information about positive nutrients or attributes into the FOPL system would divert its purpose, dilute the effect, and increase consumer confusion." PAHO adds that products carrying the Warning Signs FOPL are typically ultra-processed; these products not only have excessive amounts of crucial nutrients but likely also contain lower amounts of positive nutrients. ³⁸

Dr. Thrasher states, "Relative to comparing all the complicated information on the Nutrition Facts label, it is a lot easier and quicker for people to make comparative decisions at the point of sale with the interpretive warning label system." ⁶⁴ Consumer research supports the effectiveness of the FOPL content in promoting healthy diets. One study used longitudinal data on food and beverage purchases from 2381 Chilean households from 2015- 2017 to examine the changes in calorie, sugar, saturated fat, and sodium content after the implementation of the Warning Signs FOPL. Findings displayed that all nutritional categories decreased in purchase.³⁶ These findings were consistent with other studies on Warning Signs FOPL systems in Chile and Canada. ^{35,76,77}

Facts Up Front Content

If manufacturers choose to implement Facts Up Front, they are required to display calories, saturated fat, sodium, and sugars per serving. Percentage daily values (% DVs) are

also included, based on the recommended daily intake for a 2000-calorie diet. If products have less space on their packaging, they have the option to display just one fact. Companies can also choose to include "nutrients to encourage," which are protein, dietary fiber, calcium, iron, potassium, vitamin A, vitamin C, and vitamin D.^{15,18} Dr. Schwartz argues that this type of format does not allow for easy comparison among and within food groups. The labels do not have a broad schematic for comparisons like the Nutri- Score or Warning Signs; rather, the nutrient information is specific to each product. She uses frozen pizza as an example: "Consumers cannot easily compare the nutrient facts on 42 frozen pizzas without opening the freezer. But, if that were labeled so that you could easily find the pizza with the best nutrient profile, it could make a huge difference." 68 Facts Up Front content may not enable accurate interpretation of healthy and unhealthy food products. A study that Dr. Schwartz contributed to compared the MTL FOPL to Facts Up Front. Consumers in the study who viewed products with the Facts Up Front Label (without "nutrients to encourage" labels) were more likely to underestimate sugars and saturated fats and overestimate fibers and proteins compared to MTL. Consumers also viewed Facts Up Front as having too much information on it, increasing the time it took to understand the label. The study concluded that the Facts Up Front label could be improved using a color-coded traffic light scheme, rather than % DV information to best educate consumers.¹⁵

Principles of Implementation

- "Uptake of the FOPL system should be encouraged across all eligible packaged foods, either through regulatory or voluntary approaches." ⁵⁰
- Early engagement of industry groups and the development of guidance documents (i.e. style guide) are necessary for facilitating the implementation of the FOPL system" ⁵⁰

- *3. "Engagement with key opinion leaders (including food and nutrition experts and the media) and consumers is essential and should be well managed."* ⁵⁰
- 4. "FOPL should be accompanied by a consumer education/ information program..."¹¹ with "special consideration of techniques to target at-risk groups are necessary for improving nutrition literacy, consumer understanding and use of the FOPL system" ⁵⁰
- 5. "FOPNL should be monitored and evaluated to determine effectiveness and impact" ¹¹ on "consumers and reformulation of food products" ⁵⁰

Nutri-Score Implementation

EU Regulation 11-69 prevents any label from being mandated in an EU member country; thereby, all FOPL schemes can only be voluntary. The Nutri-Score, adopted by eight countries, is one of six developed FOPL schemes present in the EU markets currently. In 2020, the European Commission, the EU's politically independent executive arm, proposed the introduction of a mandatory FOPL by the end of 2022 after conducting an impact assessment on the different FOPL systems in Europe.⁷⁸ However, this mandate has not occurred; Dr. Julia speculates that this postponement is due to intense lobbying from the dairy industry, processed meat industry, other food manufacturers, and national governments, aforementioned. ⁵¹

The different preferences of European members are challenging perspectives to unite under an international governance-mandated FOPL system. ⁷² In its stead, Dr. Lasserre advises policymakers to mandate sugar reduction by modeling the Declaration of Milan, a commitment to reduce the burden of unhealthy excess weight in Europe. ⁷⁰ The Declaration was announced by the European Association for the Study of Obesity along with the Italian Society of Obesity at the 2015 Milan Expo. The declaration invoked the Swiss governmental strategy of reducing sugar in various product categories, such as yogurt, breakfast cereals, and sweetened beverages. By 2017, 14 Swiss food manufacturers signed the declaration. Since 2018, the added sugar content of yogurt has decreased by 5% and 13%, respectively, exhibiting product reformulation. Efforts continue to be monitored by the Swiss Federal Food Safety and Veterinary Office. ^{79,80}

Santé publique France provides information on the development, design, content, and algorithm calculators of the Nutri-Score for consumers, along with implementation guidance documents for food manufacturers on their website. Additionally, the website provides relevant reports and contact information of member states' representatives of the transnational steering committee. This committee serves to coordinate the implementation of the Nutri-Score and ease the use of the FOPL by food business operators. ¹⁶

The Nutri-Score should be complemented with consumer education programs. Dr. Lasserre furthered this point in her interview, discussing her daily use of nutrition education with her clients as a dietician. She helps clients use the Nutri-Score to compare different food products, equipping them with knowledge about how to decipher both the FOPL and BOPL, along with information about processing and production not reflected by labels. She urges policymakers to complement FOPL schemes with nutrition education programs in schools. ⁷⁰ Dr. Julia concurs, stating that the Nutri-Score alone is not enough to improve consumer knowledge of health. ⁵¹

Warning Signs Implementation

The Warning Signs label is mandatory in implementation. PAHO puts forth: "The food industry is unlikely to comply with any voluntary FOPL that highlights negative properties of products they manufacture and discourages their purchase by consumers." PAHO remains

steadfast in the belief that public health measures that address important population risks (such as obesity) should be mandatory. ³⁸ Additionally, other policies on marketing complement the FOPL; Chile and Mexico ban products from displaying cartoon characters, toys, or celebrities on the package if they bear a warning label. ^{41,81}

PAHO has created documents overviewing what the NP Model is, and how to use the FOPL as a policy tool. These guiding documents are educational tools for both consumers and manufacturers. As the FOPL is mandated by specific countries, additional guidance documents will be country-specific. For example, Mexico's Health and Sanitary Risks Authority published a manual to provide guidelines on required information and labeling formats for processed foods and beverages. The USDA Foreign Agricultural Service translated the manual to inform U.S. manufacturers interested in entering the Mexican market. ⁸²

When fighting the adoption of the Warning Signs FOPL in Mexico, Nestle argued that consumers were not sufficiently educated on nutrition, and that information campaigns should be prioritized instead of warning labels.⁴¹ PAHO concurs that educational initiatives are important, but only as complements to policy changes, adding, "FOPL is an education tool in itself, as it provides information that helps educate consumers about the content of food products." ³⁸ Additionally, Warning Signs can encourage product reformulation. A study found that after Chile implemented the Food Labeling and Advertising Law in 2016, the number of products that qualified for an excessive sugar label and excessive sodium label decreased from 80% to 60%, and 74% to 27%, respectively. There was not much change in the amount of products high in calories and saturated fat. Furthermore, the distribution of critical nutrients in most food groups moved just below nutrient cutoffs, so companies may be reformulating just enough to avoid the label. ⁸³

Facts Up Front Implementation

In 2012, FMI released a guidance document for manufacturers who chose to adopt voluntary implementation of the label. ⁸⁴ Dr. Thrasher notes: "I don't think Facts Up Front provides much motivation [to producers] to reformulate products to make them healthier, as consumers are not responding by not buying products because the information is too complicated for them to understand and use." ⁶⁴ To increase consumer understanding, The Facts Up Front label was paired with a \$50 million national consumer education campaign in 2014. ¹⁵ There is not ample research on the effectiveness of the educational campaign, but FMI wrote that the campaign includes online toolkits for retailers and print, digital, and instore communications that direct consumers to the Facts Up Front website, where consumers can learn more about nutrition. ⁴⁶ However, the Facts Up Front website states that it is currently under construction. ⁸⁵

The FDA announced in 2023 that the agency was undertaking consumer research to propose a standardized FOPL system in the U.S., replacing the Facts Up Front initiative. ⁴⁷ Dr. Schwartz pointed out that mandating a FOPL system will not be easy: "In the United States, because of the first amendment [free speech], it becomes very difficult to … regulate [the industry]." ⁶⁸ Dr. Thrasher concurs, saying that other countries are implementing effective labeling systems because they have legal systems that allow for the government to adopt and implement more stringent policies. He draws upon an example from the tobacco industry. In 2009, Congress gave the FDA the regulatory authority to implement graphic pictorial warnings on cigarette packs by 2012. Over ten years later, these labels have not been mandated due to industry litigation of First Amendment rights. He compares, "the food industry pays a lot of attention to how the tobacco industry deals with these kinds of issues,

learns from it, and knows how to work the legal system in the same way. I am cynical of the [United States'] ability to first adopt, and then *implement* a policy like this." ⁶⁴ The FDA intends to issue a proposed rule on the potential new FOPL system by June 2024. ⁴⁷

Conclusion

As diet-attributable NCDs increase in prevalence, front-of-package labels can be used as tools to improve the health of the population. FOPLs can influence consumer choices through increased nutritional awareness and additionally encourage the industry to reformulate their products to reduce the amount of unhealthy nutrients. The design, content, and implementation methods all play a role in determining the effectiveness of the policy, a fact supported by both policy frameworks and actual stakeholder perspectives.

This paper measured the theoretical effectiveness of the Nutri-Score, Warning Signs label, and Facts Up Front labels by applying the WHO and Codex guidelines, which are established and reputable international policy frameworks. The Warning Signs Labels met most criteria, such as being interpretive, developed by the government in consultation with other stakeholders, being understandable by all subgroups, and encompassing nutritional criteria. The Nutri-Score mostly met these criteria, but it was more divisive in consensus. The Facts Up Front label lacked in most of these imperative areas.

The practical effectiveness was analyzed by assessing various stakeholder perspectives of the three FOPLs. The analysis found that the industry primarily supports non-mandatory and/or non-interpretive labels. In the United States, industry intervention led to the development of Facts Up Front, and lobbying efforts have stalled the development of a more uniform, interpretive system. In the region of the Americas, the development of the mandatory warning label was met with resistance from transnational food companies, who would lose

Makkar 34

billions of dollars in profit due to the FOPL and associated policies – such as removing cartoon marketing from products marked excessive in a critical nutrient. Nonetheless, numerous countries implemented the label. In Europe, however, the Nutri-Score has yet to be mandated by any country. Per European Commission regulations, any FOPL system can only be voluntarily implemented in an EU country. The EU has discussed the possibility of mandating a FOPL, with the Nutri-Score being a strong contender. However, the Nutri-Score has been met with opposition from food manufacturers, governmental authorities, and some academics who claim the system discriminates against established health benefits of certain non-reformulatable foods, such as olive oil and other traditional Mediterranean products, by rating them at equivalent or sometimes worse grades than some processed foods. Proponents argue that the Nutri-Score algorithm aligns with most countries' food-based dietary guidelines.

The WHO framework and Codex guidelines both concur that consumer research is essential to determine the effectiveness of any labeling system. Future research should evaluate how different FOPL systems can affect actual consumer purchasing habits, accounting for other important drivers of food choice, such as price, sustainability, and taste. Current research supports the idea that countries should seek to adopt interpretive FOPLs that provide nutritional guidance that consumers can understand easily and quickly. Other policy recommendations include the adoption of regulations that require the food industry to commit to both transparency and reduction of critical nutrients, whether this be through mandatory FOPL labels or alternative nutrition policies.

Bibliography

1. GBD 2013 Risk Factors Collaborators, Forouzanfar MH, Alexander L, Anderson HR, Bachman VF, Biryukov S, et al. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks in 188 countries, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet. 2015 Dec 5;386(10010):2287–323.

2. Lim SS, Vos T, Flaxman AD, Danaei G, Shibuya K, Adair-Rohani H, et al. A comparative risk assessment of burden of disease and injury attributable to 67 risk factors and risk factor clusters in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet. 2012 Dec 15;380(9859):2224–60.

3. Grosso G. Impact of nutritional risk factors on chronic non-communicable diseases. European Journal of Public Health. 2019 Nov

1;29(Supplement_4):ckz185.197.

4. GBD 2017 Diet Collaborators. Health effects of dietary risks in 195 countries, 1990- 2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. 2019 May 11;393(10184):1958–72.

5. Institute For Health Metrics and Evaluation. Global Burden of Disease (GBD) [Internet]. Institute For Health Metrics and Evaluation. [cited 2024 Feb 8]. Available from: https://www.healthdata.org/research-analysis/gbd

6. World Health Organization. Nutrition labelling: policy brief [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2022 Jun [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from:

https://www.who.int/publications- detail-redirect/9789240051324

7. Roberto CA, Ng SW, Ganderats-Fuentes M, Hammond D, Barquera S, Jauregui A, et al. The Influence of Front-of-Package Nutrition Labeling on Consumer Behavior and Product Reformulation. Annu Rev Nutr. 2021 Oct 11;41(1):529–50.

8. Food and Agriculture Organization, World Health Organization. CODEX ALIMENTARIUS FAO-WHO [Internet]. FAO. [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.fao.org/fao-who-codexalimentarius/en/

9. Ganderats-Fuentes M, Morgan S. Front-of-Package Nutrition Labeling and Its Impact on Food Industry Practices: A Systematic Review of the Evidence. Nutrients. 2023 Jan;15(11):2630.

10. Grunert KG, Fernández-Celemín L, Wills JM, Storcksdieck genannt Bonsmann S, Nureeva L. Use and understanding of nutrition information on food labels in six European countries. Z Gesundh Wiss. 2010;18(3):261–77.

11. Codex Alimentarius Commission. Guidelines on Nutrition Labelling. [Internet]. 2021. Report No.: CXG 2-1985. Available from: https://www.fao.org/fao-whocodexalimentarius/sh-

proxy/en/?lnk=1&url=https%253A%252F%252Fworkspace.fao.org%252Fsites%252Fcodex% 2 52FStandards%252FCXG%2B2-1985%252FCXG_002e.pdf

12. Center For Science in the Public Interest. Front-of-Package Nutrition Labeling [Internet]. Center For Science in the Public Interest; 2023 Jan. Available from: https://www.cspinet.org/sites/default/files/2023-

01/FOPNL%20Fact%20Sheet_1.10.23_final.pdf

13. Giner C, Rodriguez D, Elasri A. Developing food labels for improved health outcomes: Insights into simplified nutrition labelling policies [Internet]. Paris: OECD; 2023 Aug [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/agriculture-and-food/developing- food-labels-for-improved-health-outcomes_c1f4d81d-

en;jsessionid=hYYmFoCo67uY89r14kliPUXp6OxDADTL3cZBSwg5.ip-10-240-5-109
14. Kristy L Hawley, Christina A Roberto, Marie A Bragg, Peggy J Liu, Marlene
B Schwartz, Kelly D Brownell. The science on front-of-package food labels. Public
Health Nutrition. 2013;16(3):430–9.

15. Roberto CA, Bragg MA, Schwartz MB, Seamans MJ, Musicus A, Novak N, et al. Facts up front versus traffic light food labels: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Prev Med. 2012 Aug;43(2):134–41.

16. Sante publique France. Nutri-Score [Internet]. Sante publique France. 2024 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.santepubliquefrance.fr/determinants-de-sante/nutrition-et- activite-physique/articles/nutri-score

17. Pan American Health Organization. Front-of-package labeling [Internet]. Pan American Health Organization. 2023 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.paho.org/en/topics/front-package-labeling

18. Gallo S. Understanding the Nutrition Label: How Facts Up Front Prioritizes Consumer Education - Consumer Brands Association [Internet]. Consumer Brands Association. 2023 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from:

https://consumer brands association.org/blog/understanding-the-nutrition-label-how-facts-up-front-prioritizes-consumer-education/

19. Julia C, Hercberg S. Nutri-Score: Evidence of the effectiveness of the French frontof- pack nutrition label. In 2018 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from:

https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Nutri-Score%3A-Evidence-of-the-effectiveness-of-the-Julia-Hercberg/f42c7a0d80faba7abfec09c61384585a68a29380

20. Bend D, Eijsden M, Roost M, Graaf K, Roodenburg A. The Nutri-Score algorithm: Evaluation of its validation process. Frontiers in Nutrition. 2022 Aug 15;9.

21. Center for Promotion of Imports. Nutri-Score – a promising initiative in nutritional quality labelling [Internet]. CBI Ministry of Foreign Affairs. 2019 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.cbi.eu/news/nutri-score-%E2%80%93-promising-initiative-nutritional- quality-labelling

22. JCA. Luxembourg Joins European Efforts to Facilitate Use of Nutri-Score Labelling [Internet]. Chronicle.lu. 2021 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: http://www.chronicle.lu/category/shopping-1/35580-luxembourg-joins-european-effortsto- facilitate-use-of-nutri-score-labelling 23. National Institute for Public Health and the Environment. Nutri-Score [Internet]. National Institute for Public Health and the Environment. [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.rivm.nl/en/food-and-nutrition/nutri-score

24. Sofia Sanchez Manzanero. Portugal latest EU country to adopt Nutriscore food traffic- light labelling system – Euractiv [Internet]. Euractive. 2024 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.euractiv.com/section/agriculture-food/news/portugal-latest-eu-country-to-adopt- nutriscore-traffic-light-labelling-system-for-food-packaging/

25. Andreeva VA, Egnell M, Touvier M, Galan P, Julia C, Hercberg S. International evidence for the effectiveness of the front-of-package nutrition label called Nutri-Score. Central European Journal of Public Health. 2021 Mar 31;29(1):76–9.

26. Finkelstein EA, Ang FJL, Doble B, Wong WHM, van Dam RM. A Randomized Controlled Trial Evaluating the Relative Effectiveness of the Multiple Traffic Light and Nutri- Score Front of Package Nutrition Labels. Nutrients. 2019 Sep 17;11(9):2236.

27. Crosetto P, Lacroix A, Muller L, Ruffieux B. Nutritional and economic impact of five alternative front-of-pack nutritional labels: experimental evidence. European Review of Agricultural Economics. 2020 Mar 20;47(2):785–818.

28. Le ministère des Sociales et de la Santé. Simplified nutrition labelling: Implementation of the Law on Modernising our Health System (article 14-II): Report of the steering committee for assessment under actual buying conditions [Internet]. 2017 Apr [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from:

https://sante.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/rapport_etiquetage_nutritionnel_version_anglaise.pdf
29. Egnell M, Talati Z, Hercberg S, Pettigrew S, Julia C. Objective Understanding of
Front- of-Package Nutrition Labels: An International Comparative Experimental Study
across 12 Countries. Nutrients. 2018 Oct 18;10(10):1542.

30. Tassos C. Kyriakides, Vasilis Vasiliou. Olive Oil and NutriScore [Internet]. Yale School of Public Health; 2021. Available from: https://www.crete-

exporters.com/files/uploads/2021/06/Olive-Oil-and-NutriScore-White-Paper-v-1.1-24-March- 2021-YALE.pdf

31. Paolo DeAndreis. Legislation in Switzerland Would Prohibit Nutri-Score - Olive Oil Times [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from:

https://www.oliveoiltimes.com/business/legislation-in-switzerland-would-prohibit-nutri-score/121017

32. Paolo DeAndreis. Nutri-Score Gains Traction Despite Opposition From Italian Farmers [Internet]. Olive Oil Times. 2020 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.oliveoiltimes.com/health-news/nutri-score-gains-traction-despite-oppositionfrom- italian-farmers/83848

33. Pfister F, Pozas C. The influence of Chile's food labeling and advertising law and other factors on dietary and physical activity behavior of elementary students in a peripheral region: a qualitative study. BMC Nutrition. 2023 Jan 11;9(1):11.

34. White M, Barquera S. Mexico Adopts Food Warning Labels, Why Now? Health

Systems & Reform. 2020 Dec 1;6(1):e1752063.

35. Flexner N, Ng AP, Ahmed M, Khandpur N, Acton RB, Lee JJ, et al. Estimating the dietary and health impact of implementing front-of-pack nutrition labeling in Canada: A macrosimulation modeling study. Front Nutr [Internet]. 2023 Mar 17 [cited 2024 Apr 26];10. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023.1098231

36. Taillie LS, Bercholz M, Popkin B, Reyes M, Colchero MA, Corvalán C. Changes in food purchases after the Chilean policies on food labelling, marketing, and sales in schools: a before and after study. The Lancet Planetary Health. 2021 Aug 1;5(8):e526–33.

37. Vargas-Meza J, Jáuregui A, Pacheco-Miranda S, Contreras-Manzano A, Barquera S. Front-of-pack nutritional labels: Understanding by low- and middle-income Mexican consumers. PLOS ONE. 2019 Nov 18;14(11):e0225268.

38. Pan American Health Organization, World Health Organization. Front-of-package labeling as a policy tool for the prevention of noncommunicable diseases in the Americas [Internet]. Pan American Health Organization; 2020. Available from:

https://iris.paho.org/bitstream/handle/10665.2/52740/PAHONMHRF200033_eng.pdf?sequence = 6&isAllowed=y

39. Hammond D, Acton RB, Rynard VL, White CM, Vanderlee L, Bhawra J, et al. Awareness, use and understanding of nutrition labels among children and youth from six countries: findings from the 2019 – 2020 International Food Policy Study. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2023 May 4;20(1):55.

40. George Institute for Global Health. Foodswitch: State of the Food Supply [Internet]. Australia: George Institute for Global Health; 2021. Available from: https://www.georgeinstitute.org/sites/default/files/SotFS-Report.pdf

41. Timo Kolbrunner, Laurent Gaberell. Junk food in Mexico: how Switzerland danced to the Nestlé tune [Internet]. Public Eye. 2022 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://stories.publiceye.ch/en/nestle-mexico/

42. Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Examination of Front-of-Package Nutrition Rating Systems and Symbols. Front-of-Package Nutrition Rating Systems and Symbols: Phase I Report [Internet]. Wartella EA, Lichtenstein AH, Boon CS, editors. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2010 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK209847/

43. Michelle McGuire. Institute of Medicine. 2012. Front-of-Package Nutrition Rating Systems and Symbols: Promoting Healthier Choices. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. Advances in nutrition (Bethesda, Md). 2012 May 14;3:332–3.

44. Dumoitier A, Abbo V, Neuhofer ZT, McFadden BR. A review of nutrition labeling and food choice in the United States. Obes Sci Pract. 2019 Nov 14;5(6):581–91.

45. Food and Drink Federation. Guideline Daily Amount [Internet]. Food Labelling. 2020 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from:

 $http://www.foodlabel.org.uk/label/gda_values.aspx$

46. Food Industry Association. Facts Up Front Launches Consumer Education Campaign

to Drive Awareness and Increase Nutrition Knowledge [Internet]. Food Industry Association. 2014 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.fmi.org/newsroom/news-archive/view/2014/03/03/facts-up-front-launches-consumer-education-campaign-to-drive-awareness-and-increase-nutrition-knowledge

47. Christina A Roberto, Alyssa Moran, Kelly D Brownell. These countries are doing nutrition labels the right way [Internet]. Washington Post. 2024 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2024/03/06/food-labels-nutrition-fda/

48. Song J, Brown MK, Tan M, MacGregor GA, Webster J, Campbell NRC, et al. Impact of color-coded and warning nutrition labelling schemes: A systematic review and network meta- analysis. PLoS Med. 2021 Oct;18(10):e1003765.

49. Neal B, Crino M, Dunford E, Gao A, Greenland R, Li N, et al. Effects of Different Types of Front-of-Pack Labelling Information on the Healthiness of Food Purchases-A Randomised Controlled Trial. Nutrients. 2017 Nov 24;9(12):1284.

50. World Health Organization. Guiding principles and framework manual for front-ofpack labelling for promoting healthy diets [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2019 May [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from:

https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/guidingprinciples- labelling-promoting-healthydiet
51. Chantal Julia. Nutri-Score Effectiveness. 2024. (M.Makkar, Interviewer)
[Online Interview].

52. Foodwatch. Nutritional logo: the combinations of Nestlé, Coca-Cola, Unilever, etc. [Internet]. Foodwatch FR. 2017 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from:

https://www.foodwatch.org/fr/actualites/2017/logo-nutritionnel-les-combines-de-nestle-coca- cola-unilever-etc

53. NUTRITIONAL INFORMATION: The battle of the logos [Internet]. Santé log.2018 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from:

https://www.santelog.com/actualites/information- nutritionnelle-la-bataille-des-logos

54. Foodwatch. Nutri-Score in the EU: 18 years of food lobbying [Internet]. Foodwatch EN. 2022 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.foodwatch.org/en/nutri-score-in-the-eu- 18-years-of-food-lobbying

55. Nestle. Nestlé and coalition call for Nutri-Score as EU standard [Internet]. Nestlé. 2020 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.nestle.com/media/news/nestle-coalition-call- nutri-score-eu-standard

56. Pan American Health Organization, Wolrd Health Organization. Pan American Health Organization: Nutrient Profile Model [Internet]. 2016. Available from:

https://iris.paho.org/bitstream/handle/10665.2/18621/9789275118733_eng.pdf?sequence=9&is A llowed=y

57. World Trade Organization. MEXICO - DRAFT AMENDMENT TO MEXICAN OFFICIAL STANDARD NOM-051-SCFI/SSA1-2010: GENERAL SPECIFICATIONS FOR THE LABELLING OF PRE-PACKED FOOD AND NON-ALCOHOLIC

BEVERAGES (ID

608) [Internet]. Trade Concerns Database. [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://tradeconcerns.wto.org/en/stcs/details?imsId=608&domainId=TBT&searchTerm=Mexico
58. Laurent Gaberell. Industry's Pushback on Warning Signs Labels Development
2024. (M.Makkar, Interviewer) [Online Interview].

59. Margaret A. Hamburg. Labeling & Nutrition - Open Letter to Industry from Dr. Hamburg [Internet]. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition; [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://wayback.archiveit.org/7993/20170722154938/https://www.fda.gov/Food/IngredientsPackagingLabeling/Labelin g Nutrition/ucm202733.htm

60. foodnavigator-usa.com. CSPI: 'Facts Up Front is a joke that should be roundly ignored by the FDA' [Internet]. foodnavigator-usa.com. 2014 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.foodnavigator-usa.com/Article/2014/03/03/CSPI-Facts-Up-Front-is-a-joke-that- should-be-ignored-by-the-FDA

61. Marion Nestle. Food industry puts \$50 million into another end run around the FDA [Internet]. Food Politics. 2014 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from:

https://www.foodpolitics.com/2014/03/food-industry-puts-50-million-into-another-end-run-around-the-fda/

62. Tassos C. Kyriakides. Nutri-Score Effectiveness. 2024. (M.Makkar, Interviewer) [Online Interview].

63. Foodwatch EN [Internet]. [cited 2024 May 27]. Nutri-Score algorithm for beverages further improved. Available from: https://www.foodwatch.org/en/nutri-score-algorithm-for-beverages-further-improved/

64. James F Thrasher. Warning Signs and Facts Up Front Label Effectiveness.2024. (M.Makkar, Interviewer) [Online Interview].

65. Nieto C, Jáuregui A, Contreras-Manzano A, Arillo-Santillan E, Barquera S, White CM, et al. Understanding and use of food labeling systems among Whites and Latinos in the United States and among Mexicans: Results from the International Food Policy Study, 2017. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2019 Oct 17;16(1):87.

66. Acton RB, Rynard VL, Adams J, Bhawra J, Cameron AJ, Contreras-Manzano A, et al. Awareness, use and understanding of nutrition labels among adults from five countries: Findings from the 2018-2020 International Food Policy Study. Appetite. 2023 Jan 1;180:106311.

67. Thrasher JF, Villalobos-Daniel VE, Fang D, Nieto C, White CM, Armendariz G, et al. Assessing transnational spillover effects of Mexico's front-of-package nutritional labeling system among Mexican Americans in the US. Prev Med. 2024 Feb;179:107855.

68. Marlene B Schwartz. Facts Up Front Effectiveness. 2024. (M.Makkar, Interviewer) [Online Interview].

69. Kees J, Fitzgerald MP. Who Uses Facts Up Front? A Baseline Examination of Who is Using Standardized Front-of-Package Nutrition Disclosures. The Journal of Consumer

Affairs. 2016;50(2):458–70.

70. Sandrine Lasserre. Nutri-Score Effectiveness. 2024. (M.Makkar, Interviewer) [Online Interview].

71. Carlos Augusto Monteiro, Geoffrey Cannon, Mark Lawrence, Maria Laura da Costa Louzada, Priscila Pereira Machado. Ultra-processed foods, diet quality, and health using the NOVA classification system. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 2019.

72. OECD. Nutri-Score. In: Healthy Eating and Active Lifestyles: Best Practices in Public Health [Internet]. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; 2022 [cited 2024 Apr 27]. Available from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/3664921een/index.html?itemId=/content/component/3664921e-en

Fialon M, Nabec L, Julia C. Legitimacy of Front-of-Pack Nutrition Labels:
Controversy Over the Deployment of the Nutri-Score in Italy. Int J Health Policy Manag.
2022 Feb 20;11(11):2574–87.

74. Paolo DeAndreis. Italian Antitrust Authority Prohibits Use of Nutri-Score on Some Products [Internet]. Olive Oil Times. 2022 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.oliveoiltimes.com/business/italian-antitrust-authority-prohibits-use-of-nutriscore- on-some-products/111479

75. European Dairy Association. EDA Position on Nutri-Score [Internet]. European Dairy Association; 2023 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from:

 $https://eda.euromilk.org/news-\ events/news/read/article/eda-position-on-nutri-score.html$

76. Barahona N, Otero C, Otero S. Equilibrium Effects of Food Labeling Policies [Internet]. Rochester, NY; 2020 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3698473

77. Acton RB, Jones AC, Kirkpatrick SI, Roberto CA, Hammond D. Taxes and frontof- package labels improve the healthiness of beverage and snack purchases: a randomized experimental marketplace. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2019 May 21;16(1):46.

78. European Commission. Nutrition labelling [Internet]. European Commission. [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://food.ec.europa.eu/safety/labelling-and-nutrition/food-information-consumers-legislation/nutrition-labelling_en

79. Federal Food Safety and Veterinary Office. Federal government and companies expand the Milan Declaration on sugar reduction [Internet]. Federal Food Safety and Veterinary Office. 2017 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from:

https://www.blv.admin.ch/blv/en/home/dokumentation/nsb-news-list.msg-id-67988.html 80. Federal Food Safety and Veterinary Office. Significant extension of the "Milan Declara- tion" [Internet]. Federal Food Safety and Veterinary Office. [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: https://www.admin.ch/gov/en/start/documentation/media-releases.msg-id-93058.html

81. Chen Chen. A Look at Food Warning Labels in Mexico | Think Global Health [Internet]. Council on Foreign Relations. 2023 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from:

https://www.thinkglobalhealth.org/article/look-food-warning-labels-mexico

82. U.S. Department of Agriculture Foreign Agricultural Service. Mexico: Front of Pack Labeling Manual Published [Internet]. U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2021 [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: <u>https://fas.usda.gov/data/mexico-front-pack-labeling</u> manual-published

83. Reyes M, Taillie LS, Popkin B, Kanter R, Vandevijvere S, Corvalán C. Changes in the amount of nutrient of packaged foods and beverages after the initial implementation of the Chilean Law of Food Labelling and Advertising: A nonexperimental prospective study. PLOS Medicine. 2020 Jul 28;17(7):e1003220.

84. Grocery Manufacturers Association, Food Industry Association. Facts Up Front Style Guide for Implementors. 2012 Mar.

85. Facts Up Front [Internet]. Facts Up Front. [cited 2024 Apr 26]. Available from: http://www.factsupfront.org/

Appendix: Abbreviation List

Abbreviation	Term
% DV	Percentage Daily Values
BOPL	Back-of-Package Label/Labeling
CAC	Codex Alimentarius Commission
CSPI	Center for Science in the Public Interest
ENL	Evolved Nutrition Label
EREN	Nutritional Epidemiology Research Team
EU	European Union
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FDA	U.S. Food and Drug Administration
FFAS	French Fund for Food and Health
FMI	Food Marketing Association
FOPL	Front-of-Package Label/Labeling
FSA	United Kingdon Food Standards Agency
GDA	Guidelines Daily Amount
GMA	Grocery Manufacturers Association
HSR	Health Star Rating Label
TOM	Institute of Medicine
МоН	Ministry of Health
MTL	Multiple Traffic Lights Label
NP	Nutrient Profiling
OECD	Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
РАНО	Pan American Health Organization
PDO	Protected Designation of Origin

PGI	Protected Geographical Indication
RI	Reference Intake Label
SECO	Swiss State Secretariat for Economic Affairs
TBT	Technical Barriers to Trade Committee
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
WHO	World Health Organization
WTO	World Trade Organization